U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FEDERAL MOTOR CARRIER SAFETY ADMINISTRATION

RATES AND CHARGES ON SHIPMENTS MOVING IN INTERSTATE COMMERCE

| I. | Applicable statu | ites under Title 49, U.S. Code: | |
|-----|------------------|---|-----|
| | § 13501. | General jurisdictionMotor Carrier Jurisdiction | 2 |
| | § 13531. | General jurisdictionFreight Forwarder Service | 2 |
| | § 13701. | Requirements for reasonable rates, classifications, through | |
| | | routes, rules, and practices for certain transportation | 2 |
| | § 13702. | Tariff requirement for certain transportation | 3 |
| | § 13703. | Certain collective activities; exemption from antitrust laws | 4 |
| | § 13704. | Household goods ratesestimates; guarantees of service | 5 |
| | § 13706. | Liability for payment of rates | 5 |
| | § 13707. | Payment of rates | 6 |
| | § 13708. | Billing and collecting practices | 6 |
| | § 13709. | Procedures for resolving claims involving unfiled, negotiated | |
| | | transportation rates | 7 |
| | § 13710. | Additional billing and collecting practices | 9 |
| | § 13711. | Alternative procedure for resolving undercharge disputes | 10 |
| | § 13901. | Requirement for registration | 12 |
| | § 13902. | Registration of motor carriers | 12 |
| | § 13903. | Registration of freight forwarders | 12 |
| | § 13904. | Registration of brokers | 12 |
| | § 13906. | Security of motor carriers, brokers, and freight forwarders | 12 |
| | § 14704. | Rights and remedies of persons injured by carriers or brokers | 13 |
| | § 14705. | Limitation on actions by and against carriers | 14 |
| | § 14706. | Liability of carriers under receipts and bills of lading | 14 |
| | § 14707. | Private enforcement of registration requirement | 16 |
| п | Complaints on | rates and charges on shipments moving in | |
| 11. | = | merce | 17 |
| | micistate com | IIIOIOC | 1 / |

UNITED STATES CODE

TITLE 49

TRANSPORTATION

SUBTITLE IV--INTERSTATE TRANSPORTATION

PART B--MOTOR CARRIERS, WATER CARRIERS, BROKERS, AND FREIGHT FORWARDERS

In this part:

Board.--The term "Board" means the Surface Transportation Board. (49 USC § 13102(1))

Secretary.--The term "Secretary" means the Secretary of Transportation. (49 USC § 13102(17))

CHAPTER 135--JURISDICTION

SUBCHAPTER I--MOTOR CARRIER TRANSPORTATION

§ 13501. General jurisdiction

The Secretary and the Board have jurisdiction, as specified in this part, over transportation by motor carrier and the procurement of that transportation, to the extent that passengers, property, or both, are transported by motor carrier--

- (1) between a place in--
 - (A) a State and a place in another State;
 - **(B)** a State and another place in the same State through another State;
- (C) the United States and a place in a territory or possession of the United States to the extent the transportation is in the United States;
- (**D**) the United States and another place in the United States through a foreign country to the extent the transportation is in the United States; or
- (E) the United States and a place in a foreign country to the extent the transportation is in the United States; and
- (2) in a reservation under the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States or on a public highway.

SUBCHAPTER III--FREIGHT FORWARDER SERVICE

§ 13531. General jurisdiction

- (a) In general.--The Secretary and the Board have jurisdiction, as specified in this part, over service that a freight forwarder undertakes to provide, or is authorized or required under this part to provide, to the extent transportation is provided in the United States and is between--
 - (1) a place in a State and a place in another State, even if part of the transportation is outside the United States;
 - (2) a place in a State and another place in the same State through a place outside the State; or
 - (3) a place in the United States and a place outside the United States.
- **(b)** Exemption of certain air carrierservice.—Neither the Secretary nor the Board has jurisdiction under subsection (a) of this section over service undertaken by a freight forwarder using transportation of an air carrier subject to Part A of subtitle VII of this title.

CHAPTER 137--RATES AND THROUGH ROUTES

- § 13701. Requirements for reasonable rates, classifications, through routes, rules, and practices for certain transportation.
 - (a) Reasonableness.--

- (1) Certain household goods transportation; joint rates involving water transportation.--A rate, classification, rule, or practice related to transportation or service provided by a carrier subject to jurisdiction under Chapter 135 for transportation or service involving--
 - (A) a movement of household goods,
 - **(B)** a rate for a movement by or with a water carrier in noncontinguous domestic trade¹, or
- (C) rates, rules, and classifications made collectively by motor carriers under agreements approved pursuant to section 13703, must be reasonable.
- (2) Through routes and divisions of joint rates.—Through routes and divisions of joint rates for such transportation or service must be reasonable.
- **(b) Prescription by Board for violations.**—When the Board finds it necessary to stop or prevent a violation of subsection (a), the Board shall prescribe the rate, classification, rule, practice, through route, or division of joint rates to be applied for such transportation or service.
- **(c) Filing of complaint.**--A complaint that a rate, classification, rule, or practice in noncontinguous domestic trade violates subsection (a) may be filed with the Board.
 - (d) Zone of reasonableness.--

* * *

(4) **Reparations.**--Upon a finding of violation of subsection (a), the Board shall award reparations to the complaining shipper or shippers in an amount equal to all sums assessed and collected that exceed the determined reasonable rate, division, rate structure, or tariff. Upon complaint from any governmental agency or authority and upon a finding or violation of subsection (a), the Board shall make such orders as are just and shall require the carrier to return, to the extent practicable, to shippers all amounts plus interest, which the Board finds to have been assessed and collected in violation of subsection (a).

§ 13702. Tariff requirement for certain transportation

- (a) **Ingeneral.**—Except when providing transportation for charitable purposes without charge, a carrier subject to jurisdiction under chapter 135 may provide transportation or service that is—
 - (1) in noncontiguous domestic trade, except with regard to bulk cargo, forest products, recycled metal scrap, waste paper, and paper waste; or
- (2) for movement of household goods; only if the rate for such transportation or service is contained in a tariff that is in effect under this section. The carrier may not charge or receive a different compensation for the transportation or service than the rate specified in the tariff, whether by returning a part of

¹The term "noncontiguous domestic trade" means transportation subject to jurisdiction under chapter 135, involving traffic originating in or destined to Alaska, Hawaii, or a territory or possession of the United States (49 U.S. Code § 13102(15)).

that rate to a person, giving a person a privilege, allowing the use of a facility that affects the value of that transportation or service, or another device. A rate contained in a tariff shall be stated in money of the United States.

(b) Tariff requirements for noncontiguous domestic trade.--

(1) Filing.--A carrier providing transportation or service described in subsection (a)(1) shall publish and file with the Board tariffs containing the rates established for such transportation or service. The carriers shall keep such tariffs available for public inspection. The Board shall prescribe the form and manner of publishing, filing, and keeping tariffs available for public inspection under this subsection.

* * *

(6) Complaints.--A complaint that a rate or related rule or practice maintained in a tariff under this subsection violates section 13701(a) may be submitted to the Board for resolution.

(c) Tariff requirements for household goods carriers.--

- (1) Ingeneral.--A carrier providing transportation described in subsection (a)(2) shall maintain rates and related rules and practices in a published tariff. The tariff must be available for inspection by the Board and be made available for inspection by shippers upon reasonable request.
- (2) Notice of availability.--A carrier that maintains a tariff under this subsection may not enforce the provisions of the tariff unless the carrier has given notice that the tariff is available for inspection in its bill of lading or by other actual notice to individuals whose shipments are subject to the tariff.
- (3) **Requirements.**--A carrier that maintains a tariff under this subsection is bound by the tariff except as otherwise provided in this part. A tariff that does not comply with this subsection may not be enforced against any individual shipper.
- **(4) Incorporation by reference.**—A carrier may incorporate by reference the rates, terms, and other conditions of a tariff in agreements covering the transportation of household goods.
- (5) Complaints.--A complaint that a rate or related rule or practice maintained in a tariff under this subsection violates section 13701(a) may be submitted to the Board for resolution.
- **(d) Invalidation.**--The Board may invalidate a tariff prepared by a carrier or carriers under this section if that tariff violates this section or a regulation of the Board carrying out this section.

§ 13703. Certain collective activities; exemption from antitrust laws

(a) Agreements.--

- (1) Authority to enter.--A motor carrier providing transportation or service subject to jurisdiction under chapter 135 may enter into an agreement with one or more such carriers to establish--
 - (A) through routes and joint rates;
 - (**B**) rates for the transportation of household goods;
 - (C) classifications;

- (D) mileage guides;
- (E) rules;
- **(F)** divisions
- (G) rate adjustments of general application based on industry average carrier costs (so long as there is no discussion of individual markets or particular single-line rates); or
 - **(H)** procedures for joint consideration, initiation, or establishment of matters described in subparagraphs (A) through (G).

* * *

§ 13704. Household goods rates--estimates; guarantees of service

(a) In general.--

- (1) Authority.—Subject to the provisions of paragraph (2) of this subsection, a motor carrier providing transportation of household goods subject to jurisdiction under subchapter I of chapter 135 may establish a rate for the transportation of household goods which is based on the carrier's written, binding estimate of charges for providing such transportation.
- (2) Nonpreferential; nonpredatory.--Any rate established under this subsection must be available on a nonpreferential basis to shippers and must not result in charges to shippers which are predatory.

(b) Rates for guaranteed service.--

- (1) Authority.—Subject to the provisions of paragraph (2) of this subsection, a motor carrier providing transportation of household goods subject to jurisdiction under subchapter I of chapter 135 may establish rates for the transportation of household goods which guarantee that the carrier will pick up and deliver such household goods at the times specified in the contract for such services and provide a penalty or per diem payment in the event the carrier fails to pick up or deliver such household goods at the specified time. The charges, if any, for such guarantee and penalty provision may vary to reflect one or more options available to meet a particular shipper's needs.
- (2) Authority of Secretary to require nonguaranteedservice rates.—Before a carrier may establish a rate for any service under paragraph (1) of this subsection, the Secretary may require such carrier to have in effect and keep in effect, during any period such rate is in effect under paragraph (1), a rate for such service which does not guarantee the pick up and delivery of household goods at the times specified in the contract for such services and which does not provide a penalty or per diem payment in the event the carrier fails to pick up or deliver household goods at the specified time.

§ 13706. Liability for payment of rates

(a) Liability of consignee.—Liability for payment of rates for transportation for a shipment of property by a shipper or consignor to a consignee other than the shipper or consignor, is determined under this section when the transportation is provided by motor carrier under this part. When the shipper or consignor instructs the carrier transporting the

property to deliver it to a consignee that is an agent only, not having beneficial title to the property, the consignee is liable for rates billed at the time of delivery for which the consignee is otherwise liable, but not for additional rates that may be found to be due after delivery if the consignee gives written notice to the delivering carrier before delivery of the property--

- (1) of the agency and absence of beneficial title; and
- (2) of the name and address of the beneficial owner of the property if it is reconsigned or diverted to a place other than the place specified in the original bill of lading.
- **(b) Liability of beneficial owner.**—When the consignee is liable for rates billed at the time of delivery under subsection (a), the shipper or consignor, or, if the property is reconsigned or diverted, the beneficial owner is liable for those additional rates regardless of the bill of the lading or contract under which the property was transported. The beneficial owner is liable for all rates when the property is reconsigned or diverted by an agent but is refused or abandoned at its ultimate destination if the agent gave the carrier in the reconsignment or diversion order a notice of agency and the name and address of the beneficial owner. A consignee giving the carrier erroneous information about the identity of the beneficial owner of the property is liable for additional rates.

§ 13707. Payment of rates

(a) **Transfer of possession upon payment.**—Except as provided in subsection (b), a carrier providing transportation or service subject to jurisdiction under this part shall give up possession at the destination of the property transported by it only when payment for the transportation or service is made.

(b) Exceptions.--

(1) **Regulations.**--Under regulations of the Secretary governing the payment for transportation and service and preventing discrimination, those carriers may give up possession at destination of property transported by them before payment for the transportation or service. The regulations of the Secretary may provide for weekly or monthly payment for transportation provided by motor carriers and for periodic payment for transportation provided by water carriers.

* * *

§ 13708. Billing and collecting practices

- (a) **Disclosure.**—A motor carrier subject to jurisdiction under subchapter I of chapter 135 shall disclose, when a document is presented or electronically transmitted for payment to the person responsible directly to the motor carrier for payment or agent of such responsible person, the actual rates, charges, or allowances for any transportation service and shall also disclose, at such time, whether and to whom any allowance or reduction in charges is made.
- **(b) False or misleading information.**--No person may cause a motor carrier to present false or misleading information on a document about the actual rate, charge, or allowance to any party to the transaction.

(c) Allowances for services.--When the actual rate, charge, or allowance is dependent upon the performance of a service by a party to the transportation arrangement, such as tendering a volume of freight over a stated period of time, the motor carrier shall indicate in any document presented for payment to the person responsible directly to the motor carrier that a reduction, allowance, or other adjustment may apply.

§ 13709. Procedures for resolving claims involving unfiled, negotiated transportation rates

(a) Transportation provided at rates other than legal tariff rates.--

- (1) In general.--When a claim is made by a motor carrier of property (other than a household goods carrier) providing transportation subject to jurisdiction under subchapter II of chapter 105 (as in effect on the day before the effective date of this section) or subchapter I of chapter 135, by a freight forwarder (other than a household goods freight forwarder), or by a party representing such a carrier or freight forwarder regarding the collection of rates or charges for such transportation in addition to those originally billed and collected by the carrier or freight forwarder for such transportation, the person against whom the claim is made may elect to satisfy the claim under the provisions of subsection (b), (c), or (d), upon showing that--
 - (A) the carrier or freight forwarder is no longer transporting property or is transporting property for the purpose of avoiding the application of this section; and

(B) with respect to the claim--

- (i) the person was offered a transportation rate by the carrier or freight forwarder other than that legally on file at the time with the Board or with the Interstate Commerce Commission, as required, for the transportation service;
 - (ii) the person tendered freight to the carrier or freight forwarder in reasonable reliance upon the offered transportation rate;
 - (iii) the carrier or freight forwarder did not properly or timely file with the Board or with the Interstate Commerce Commission, as required, a tariff providing for such transportation rate or failed to enter into an agreement for contract carriage;
 - (iv) such transportation rate was billed and collected by the carrier or freight forwarder; and
 - (v) the carrier or freight forwarder demands additional payment of a higher rate filed in a tariff.
- (2) Forum.--If there is a dispute as to the showing under paragraph (1)(A), such dispute shall be resolved by the court in which the claim is brought. If there is a dispute as to the showing under paragraph (1)(B), such dispute shall be resolved by the Board. Pending the resolution of any such dispute, the person shall not have to pay any additional compensation to the carrier or freight forwarder.
- (3) **Effect of satisfaction of claims.**—Satisfaction of the claim under subsection (b), (c), or (d) shall be binding on the parties, and the parties shall not be subject to

- chapter 119 of this title, as such chapter was in effect on the day before the effective date of this section, or chapter 149.
- **(b)** Claims involving shipments weighing 10,000 pounds or less.--A person from whom the additional legally applicable and effective tariff rate or charges are sought may elect to satisfy the claim if the shipments each weighed 10,000 pounds or less, by payment of 20 percent of the difference between the carrier's applicable and effective tariff rate and the rate originally billed and paid. In the event that a dispute arises as to the rate that was legally applicable to the shipment, such dispute shall be resolved by the Board.
- (c) Claims involving shipments weighing more than 10,000 pounds.—A person from whom the additional legally applicable and effective tariff rate or charges are sought may elect to satisfy the claim if the shipments each weighed more than 10,000 pounds, by payment of 15 percent of the difference between the carrier's applicable and effective tariff rate and the rate originally billed and paid. In the event that a dispute arises as to the rate that was legally applicable to the shipment, such dispute shall be resolved by the Board.
- (d) Claims involving public warehousemen.—Notwithstanding subsections (b) and (c), a person from whom the additional legally applicable and effective tariff rate or charges are sought may elect to satisfy the claim by payment of 5 percent of the difference between the carrier's applicable and effective tariff rate and the rate originally billed and paid if such person is a public warehouseman. In the event that a dispute arises as to the rate that was legally applicable to the shipment, such dispute shall be resolved by the Board.
- (e) Effects of election.--When a person from whom additional legally applicable freight rates or charges are sought does not elect to use the provisions of subsection (b), (c) or (d), the person may pursue all rights and remedies existing under this part or, for transportation provided before the effective date of this section, all rights and remedies that existed under this title on the day before such effective date.
- **(f) Stay of additional compensation.**--When a person proceeds under this section to challenge the reasonableness of the legally applicable freight rate or charges being claimed by a carrier or freight forwarder in addition to those already billed and collected, the person shall not have to pay any additional compensation to the carrier or freight forwarder until the Board has made a determination as to the reasonableness of the challenged rate as applied to the freight of the person against whom the claim is made.

(g) Notification of election.--

- (1) General rule.—A person must notify the carrier or freight forwarder as to its election to proceed under subsection (b), (c), or (d). Except as provided in paragraphs (2), (3), and (4), such election may be made at any time.
- (2) Demands for payment initially made after December 3, 1993.--If the carrier or freight forwarder or party representing such carrier or freight forwarder initially demands the payment of additional freight charges after December 3, 1993, and notifies the person from whom additional freight charges are sought of the provisions of subsections (a) through (f) at the time of the making of such initial demand, the election must be made not later than the later of--
 - (A) the 60th day following the filing of an answer to a suit for the collection of such additional legally applicable freight rate or charges, or

- **(B)** March 5, 1994.
- (3) Pending suits for collection made before December 4, 1993.--If the carrier or freight forwarder or party representing such carrier or freight forwarder has filed, before December 4, 1993, a suit for the collection of additional freight charges and notifies the person from whom additional freight charges are sought of the provisions of subsections (a) through (f), the election must be made not later than the 90th day following the date on which such notification is received.
- (4) Demands for payment made before December 4, 1993.--If the carrier or freight forwarder or party representing such carrier or freight forwarder has demanded the payment of additional freight charges, and has not filed a suit for the collection of such additional freight charges, before December 4, 1993, and notifies the person from whom additional freight charges are sought of the provisions of subsections (a) through (f), the election must be made not later than the later of--
 - (A) the 60th day following the filing of an answer to a suit for the collection of such additional legally applicable freight rate or charges, or
 - **(B)** March 5, 1994.
- (h) Claims involving small-business concerns, charitable organizations, and recyclable materials.--
 - (1) In general.--Notwithstanding subsections (b), (c), and (d), a person from whom the additional legally applicable and effective tariff rate or charges are sought shall not be liable for the difference between the carrier's applicable and effective tariff rate and the rate originally billed and paid--
 - (A) if such person qualifies as a small-business concern under the Small Business Act (15 U.S.C. 631 et seq.),
 - (**B**) if such person is an organization which is described in section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and exempt from tax under section 501(a) of such Code, or
 - (C) if the cargo involved in the claim is recyclable materials.
 - (2) Recyclable materials defined.--In this subsection, the term "recyclable materials" means waste products for recycling or reuse in the furtherance of recognized pollution control programs.

§ 13710. Additional billing and collecting practices

- (a) Miscellaneous provisions.--
- (1) Information relating to basis of rate.—A motor carrier of property (other than a motor carrier providing transportation in noncontiguous domestic trade) shall provide to the shipper, on request of the shipper, a written or electronic copy of the rate, classification, rules, and practices, upon which any rate applicable to its shipment or agreed to between the shipper and carrier is based.
- (2) Reasonableness of rates; collecting additional charges.--When the applicability or reasonableness of the rates and related provisions billed by a motor carrier is challenged by the person paying the freight charges, the Board shall

determine whether such rates and provisions are reasonable under section 13701 or applicable based on the record before it.

(3) Billing disputes.--

- (A) Initiated by motor carriers.--In those cases where a motor carrier (other than a motor carrier providing transportation of household goods or in noncontiguous domestic trade) seeks to collect charges in addition to those billed and collected which are contested by the payor, the carrier may request that the Board determine whether any additional charges over those billed and collected must be paid. A carrier must issue any bill for charges in addition to those originally billed within 180 days of the receipt of the original bill in order to have the right to collect such charges.
- **(B) Initiated by shippers.**--If a shipper seeks to contest the charges originally billed or additional charges subsequently billed, the shipper may request that the Board determine whether the charges billed must be paid. A shipper must contest the original bill or subsequent bill within 180 days of receipt of the bill in order to have the right to contest such charges.
- (4) Voiding of certain tariffs.—Any tariff on file with the Interstate Commerce Commission on August 26, 1994, and not required to be filed after that date is null and void beginning on that date. Any tariff on file with the Interstate Commerce Commission on the effective date of this section and not required to be filed after that date is null and void beginning on that date.
- **(b)** Resolution of disputes over status of common carrier or contract carrier.—
 If a motor carrier (other than a motor carrier providing transportation of household goods) that was subject to jurisdiction under subchapter II of chapter 105, as in effect on the day before the effective date of this section, and that had authority to provide transportation as both a motor common carrier and a motor contract carrier and a dispute arises as to whether certain transportation that was provided prior to the effective date of this section was provided in its common carrier or contract carrier capacity and the parties are not able to resolve the dispute consensually, the Board shall resolve the dispute.

§ 13711. Alternative procedure for resolving undercharge disputes

(a) General rule.--It shall be an unreasonable practice for a motor carrier of property (other than a household goods carrier) providing transportation subject to jurisdiction under subchapter I of chapter 135 or, before the effective date of this section, to have provided transportation that was subject to jurisdiction under subchapter II of chapter 105, as in effect on the day before the effective date of this section, a freight forwarder (other than a household goods freight forwarder), or a party representing such a carrier or freight forwarder to attempt to charge or to charge for a transportation service the difference between (1) the applicable rate that was lawfully in effect pursuant to a tariff that was filed in accordance with this chapter or, with respect to transportation provided before the effective date of this section, in accordance with chapter 107, as in effect on the date the transportation was provided, by the carrier or freight forwarder applicable to such transportation service, and (2) the negotiated rate for such transportation service if the

carrier or freight forwarder is no longer transporting property between places described in section 13501(1) or is transporting property between places described in section 13501(1) for the purpose of avoiding application of this section.

(b) Jurisdiction of Board.--

- (1) **Determination.**—The Board shall have jurisdiction to make a determination of whether or not attempting to charge or the charging of a rate by a motor carrier or freight forwarder or party representing a motor carrier or freight forwarder is an unreasonable practice under subsection (a). If the Board determines that attempting to charge or the charging of the rate is an unreasonable practice under subsection (a), the carrier, freight forwarder, or party may not collect the difference described in subsection (a) between the applicable rate and the negotiated rate for the transportation service.
- (2) Factors to consider.--In making a determination under paragraph (1), the Board shall consider--
 - (A) whether the person was offered a transportation rate by the carrier or freight forwarder or party other than that legally on file with the Interstate Commerce Commission or the Board, as required, at the time of the movement for the transportation service;
 - **(B)** whether the person tendered freight to the carrier or freight forwarder in reasonable reliance upon the offered transportation rate;
 - (C) whether the carrier or freight forwarder did not properly or timely file with the Interstate Commerce Commission or the Board, as required, a tariff providing for such transportation rate or failed to enter into an agreement for contract carriage;
 - (\mathbf{D}) whether the transportation rate was billed and collected by the carrier or freight forwarder; and
 - **(E)** whether the carrier or freight forwarder or party demands additional payment of a higher rate filed in a tariff.
- (c) Stay of additional compensation.—When a person proceeds under this section to challenge the reasonableness of the practice of a motor carrier, freight forwarder, or party described in subsection (a) to attempt to charge or to charge the difference described in subsection (a) between the applicable rate and the negotiated rate for the transportation service in addition to those charges already billed and collected for the transportation service, the person shall not have to pay any additional compensation to the carrier, freight forwarder, or party until the Board has made a determination as to the reasonableness of the practice as applied to the freight of the person against whom the claim is made.
- (d) **Treatment.**--Subsection (a) is an exception to the requirements of section 13702 and, for transportation provided before the effective date of this section, to the requirements of sections 10761(a) and 10762, as in effect on the day before such effective date, as such sections relate to a filed tariff rate and other general tariff requirements.
- (e) Nonapplicability of negotiated rate dispute resolution procedure.--If a person elects to seek enforcement of subsection (a) with respect to a rate for a transportation or service, section 13709 shall not apply to such rate.

- **(f) Definitions.**--In this section, the term "negotiated rate" means a rate, charge, classification, or rule agreed upon by a motor carrier or freight forwarder and a shipper through negotiations pursuant to which no tariff was lawfully and timely filed and for which there is written evidence of such agreement.
- **(g) Applicability to pending cases.**—This section shall apply to all cases and proceedings pending on the effective date of this section.

CHAPTER 139--REGISTRATION

§ 13901. Requirement for registration

A person may provide transportation or service subject to jurisdiction under subchapter I or III of chapter 135 or be a broker for transportation subject to jurisdiction under subchapter I of that chapter, only if the person is registered under this chapter to provide the transportation or service.

§ 13902. Registration of motor carriers

(a) Motor carrier generally.--

- (1) In general.--Except as provided in this section, the Secretary shall register a person to provide transportation subject to jurisdiction under subchapter I of chapter 135 of this title as a motor carrier if the Secretary finds that the person is willing and able to comply with--
 - (A) this part and the applicable regulations of the Secretary and the Board;
 - **(B)** any safety regulations imposed by the Secretary and the safety fitness requirements established by the Secretary under section 31144; and
 - (C) the minimum financial responsibility requirements established by the Secretary pursuant to sections 13906 and 31138.

* * *

§ 13903. Registration of freight forwarders

(a) In general.—The Secretary shall register a person to provide service subject to jurisdictionunder subchapter III of chapter 135 as a freight forwarder if the Secretary finds that the person is fit, willing, and able to provide the service and to comply with this part and applicable regulations of the Secretary and the Board.

* * *

§ 13904. Registration of brokers

(a) In general.—The Secretary shall register, subject to section 13906(b), a person to be a broker for transportation of property subject to jurisdiction under subchapter I of chapter 135, if the Secretary finds that the person is fit, willing, and able to be a broker for transportation and to comply with this part and applicable regulations of the Secretary.

* * *

§ 13906. Security of motor carriers, brokers, and freight forwarders

(a) Motor carrier requirements.--

(1) Liability insurance requirement.--The Secretary may register a motor carrier under section 13902 only if the registrant files with the Secretary a bond, insurance policy, or other type of security approved by the Secretary, in an amount not less than such amount as the Secretary prescribes * * *. A registration remains in effect only as long as the registrant continues to satisfy the security requirements of this paragraph.

* * *

- (3) Transportation insurance.—The Secretary may require a registered motor carrier to file with the Secretary a type of security sufficient to pay a shipper or consignee for damage to property of the shipper or consignee placed in the possession of the motor carrier as the result of transportation provided under this part. A carrier required by law to pay a shipper or consignee for loss, damage, or default for which a connecting motor carrier is responsible is subrogated, to the extent of the amount paid, to the rights of the shipper or consignee under any such security.
- **(b) Broker requirements.**—The Secretary may register a person as a broker under section 13904 only if the person files with the Secretary a bond, insurance policy, or other type of security approved by the Secretary to ensure that the transportation for which a broker arranges is provided. The registration remains in effect only as long as the broker continues to satisfy the security requirements of this subsection.

(c) Freight forwarder requirements.--

- (1) Liability insurance.--The Secretary may register a person as a freight forwarder under section 13903 of this title only if the person files with the Secretary a bond, insurance policy, or other type of security approved by the Secretary. * * *
- (2) Freight forwarder insurance.—The Secretary may require a registered freight forwarder to file with the Secretary a bond, insurance policy, or other type of security approved by the Secretary sufficient to pay, not more than the amount of the security, for loss of, or damage to, property for which the freight forwarder provides service.
- (3) **Effective period.**—The freight forwarder's registration remains in effect only as long as the freight forwarder continues to satisfy the security requirements of this subsection.

* * *

CHAPTER 147--ENFORCEMENT; INVESTIGATIONS; RIGHTS; REMEDIES

* * *

- § 14704. Rights and remedies of persons injured by carriers or brokers
 - (a) In general.--

- (1) Enforcement of order.--A person injured because a carrier or broker providing transportation or service subject to jurisdiction under chapter 135 does not obey an order of the Secretary or the Board, as applicable, under this part, except an order for the payment of money, may bring a civil action to enforce that order under this subsection. A person may bring a civil action for injunctive relief for violations of sections 14102 and 14103.
- (2) **Damages for violations.**—A carrier or broker providing transportation or service subject to jurisdiction under chapter 135 is liable for damages sustained by a person as a result of an act or omission of that carrier or broker in violation of this part.
- **(b)** Liability and damages for exceeding tariff rate.--A carrier providing transportation or service subject to jurisdiction under chapter 135 is liable to a person for amounts charged that exceed the applicable rate for transportation or service contained in a tariff in effect under section 13702.

(c) Election.--

(1) Complaint to DOT or Board; civil action.--A person may file a complaint with the Board or the Secretary, as applicable, under section 14701(b) or bring a civil action under subsection (b) to enforce liability against a carrier or broker providing transportation or service subject to jurisdiction under chapter 135.

* * *

§ 14705. Limitation on actions by and against carriers

- (a) In general.—A carrier providing transportation or service subject to jurisdiction under chapter 135 must begin a civil action to recover charges for transportation or service provided by the carrier within 18 months after the claim accrues.
- **(b) Overcharges.**--A person must begin a civil action to recover overcharges within 18 months after the claim accrues. If the claim is against a carrier providing transportation subject to jurisdiction under chapter 135 and an election to file a complaint with the Board or Secretary, as applicable, is made under section 14704(c)(1), the complaint must be filed within 3 years after the claim accrues.
- (c) **Damages.**--A person must file a complaint with the Board or Secretary, as applicable, to recover damages under section 14704(b) within 2 years after the claim accrues.
- (d) Extensions.—The limitation periods under subsection (b) of this section are extended for 6 months from the time written notice is given to the claimant by the carrier of disallowance of any part of the claim specified in the notice if a written claim is given to the carrier within those limitation periods. The limitation periods under subsections (b) and (c) of this section are extended for 90 days from the time the carrier begins a civil action under subsection (a) to recover charges related to the same transportation or service, or collects (without beginning a civil action under that subsection) the charge for that transportation or service if that action is begun or collection is made within the appropriate period.
- **(e) Payment.**--A person must begin a civil action to enforce an order of the Board or Secretary against a carrier within 1 year after the date of the order.

(g) Accrual date.--A claim related to a shipment of property accrues under this section on delivery or tender of delivery by the carrier.

§ 14706. Liability of carriers under receipts and bills of lading

(a) General liability.--

- (1) Motor carriers and freight forwarders.--A carrier providing transportation or service subject to jurisdiction under subchapter I or III of chapter 135 shall issue a receipt or bill of lading for property it receives for transportation under this part. That carrier and any other carrier that delivers the property and is providing transportation or service * * * are liable to the person entitled to recover under the receipt or bill of lading. The liability imposed under this paragraph is for the actual loss or injury to the property * * *. Failure to issue a receipt or bill of lading does not affect the liability of a carrier. * * *
- (2) **Freight forwarder.**--A freight forwarder is both the receiving and delivering carrier. * * *

* * *

(d) Civil actions.--

- (1) Against delivering carrier.—A civil action under this section may be brought against a delivering carrier in a district court of the United States or in a State court. Trial, if the action is brought in a district court of the United States is in a judicial district, and if in a State court, is in a State through which the defendant carrier operates.
- (2) Against carrierresponsible for loss.--A civil action under this section may be brought against the carrier alleged to have caused the loss or damage, in the judicial district in which such loss or damage is alleged to have occurred.
- (3) **Jurisdiction of courts.**—A civil action under this section may be brought in a United States district court or in a State court.
 - (4) Judicial district defined.--In this section, "judicial district" means--
 - (A) in the case of a United States district court, a judicial district of the United States; and
 - **(B)** in the case of a State court, the applicable geographic area over which such court exercises jurisdiction.

(e) Minimum period for filing claims.--

- (1) In general.--A carrier may not provide by rule, contract, or otherwise, a period of less than 9 months for filing a claim against it under this section and a period of less than 2 years for bringing a civil action against it under this section. The period for bringing a civil action is computed from the date the carrier gives a person written notice that the carrier has disallowed any part of the claim specified in the notice.
 - (2) Special rules.--For the purposes of this subsection--
 - (A) an offer of compromise shall not constitute a disallowance of any part of the claim unless the carrier, in writing, informs the claimant that such part of the claim is disallowed and provides reasons for such disallowance; and

- **(B)** communications received from a carrier's insurer shall not constitute a disallowance of any part of the claim unless the insurer, in writing, informs the claimant that such part of the claim is disallowed, provides reason for such disallowance, and informs the claimant that the insurer is acting on behalf of the carrier.
- (f) Limiting liability of household goods carriers to declared value.--A carrier or group of carriers subject to jurisdiction under subchapter I or III of chapter 135 may petition the Board to modify, eliminate, or establish rates for the transportation of household goods under which the liability of the carrier for that property is limited to a value established by written declaration of the shipper or by a written agreement.

* * *

§ 14707. Private enforcement of registration requirement

- (a) In general.--If a person provides transportation by motor vehicle or service in clear violation of section 13901-13904 or 13906, a person injured by the transportation or service may bring a civil action to enforce any such section. In a civil action under this subsection, trial is in the judicial district in which the person who violated that section operates.
- **(b) Procedure.**—A copy of the complaint in a civil action under subsection (a) shall be served on the Secretary and a certificate of service must appear in the complaint filed with the court. The Secretary may intervene in a civil action under subsection (a). The Secretary may notify the district court in which the action is pending that the Secretary intends to consider the matter that is the subject of the complaint in a proceeding before the Secretary. When that notice is filed, the court shall stay further action pending disposition of the proceeding before the Secretary.
- (c) Attorney's fees.—In a civil action under subsection (a), the court may determine the amount of and award a reasonable attorney's fee to the prevailing party. That fee is in addition to costs allowable under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

COMPLAINTS ON RATES AND CHARGES ON SHIPMENTS MOVING IN INTERSTATE COMMERCE

Disputes or complaints involving rates and charges assessed on interstate shipments may be pursued with the SURFACE TRANSPORTATION BOARD of the U.S. Department of Transportation:

Surface Transportation Board Office of Compliance and Enforcement 1925 K Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20423-0001

Telephone 202-565-1573